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I. STATEMENT

1. On March 14, 2018, Trial Staff (Complainant or Staff) of the Commission served American Transit Express LLC (American Transit), with Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 120997 arising out of one alleged violation of Rule 6009(g) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6; one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 391.25(a); one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.25(b), one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.45; one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.51(a); and one alleged violation of Rule 6103(c)(II)(D) .
2. On March 30, 2018, American Transit requested hearing on the CPAN.

3. On April 11, 2018, the matter was referred to an Administrative Law Judge.

4. On April 17, 2018, by Decision No. R18-0268-I, a hearing in this matter was set for June 12, 2018.

5. On April 23, 2018, Staff filed its Motion to Amend the Procedural Schedule. 

6. On May 8, 2018, by Decision No. R18-0316-I, the Motion to Amend the Procedural Schedule was granted and the evidentiary hearing was rescheduled for July 12, 2018.

7. On July 12, 2018, the above captioned proceeding was called to order at 9:30 a.m. Counsel for Staff entered his appearance. The Respondent failed to appear. After waiting 15 minutes for the Respondent to appear, the undersigned ALJ commenced the proceeding.   

8. At the start of the hearing the undersigned ALJ took notice of the fact that the Notice of Hearing had been not been returned to the Commission by the U.S. Postal Service. The undersigned ALJ then took Administrative Notice of the Respondent’s address contained within the Commission’s files and noted, for the record, that the address matched the address that the Notice of Hearing was sent to the Respondent. The undersigned ALJ then found that service of the notice of hearing was proper. The proceeding was then commenced without the presence of the Respondent.

9. Staff offered the testimony of Criminal Investigators (CIs) Hubert Barton, Cory Brodzinski and Andrew McClellan. Hearing Exhibits 1 through 21 were offered and admitted.  At the conclusion of the evidence the record was closed. The matter was then taken under advisement.

10. In reaching this Recommended Decision, the ALJ has considered all arguments presented, including those arguments not specifically addressed in this Decision.  Likewise, the ALJ has considered all evidence presented at the hearing, even if the evidence is not specifically addressed in this Decision.
11. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record of the hearing and a written recommended decision in this matter

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

12. Hubert Barton, Cory Brodzinski, Lloyd Swint and Andrew McClellan are CIs for the investigations and compliance unit of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission.
13. American Transit is a contract carrier regulated by the Commission which provides non-emergency medical transportation. American Transit possesses Commission Permit 
No. B-9893. Exhibit 8.
14. American Transit is owned by Mr. Fred Nnanna.
 Exhibit 8, p.3 

15. Mr. Nnanna also owns Royal Adult Daycare. Both Royal Adult Daycare and American Transit are operated at 2020 Wadsworth Boulevard, No. 15, Lakewood, Colorado.  

16. American Transit picks up clients from their homes and transports them to Royal Adult Daycare and then returns them to their home at the end of the day. Hearing Transcript p. 31, l. 9-15.
17. On September 6, 2017, CI Barton was called to assist the Colorado Department of Health Care Policy and Financing (HICPUF) to inspect American Transit’s vehicles. Upon his arrival at 2020 Wadsworth, CI Barton observed Cassandra Keller, an official from HICPUF, and Mr. Nnanna in an argument.

18. At the time CI Barton arrived, two of American Transits vehicles
 were being loaded with passengers. CI Barton stopped the loading of passengers and conducted a level 2 inspection
 of the vehicles.

19. After completing the inspection, CI Barton placed both vehicles and both drivers out of service.  CI Barton then presented the forms documenting the violations to Mr. Nnanna and advised him that he had 15 days to correct the issues discovered in the inspection.

20. On September 21, 2017, CI Barton sent a warning letter, by certified mail, to American Transit listing seven violations of Commission rules.
 In addition, the letter stated that any future violations would result in further enforcement action. Exhibit 1.
21. In March of 2018, CI Brodzinski was assigned to investigate American Transit. 

22. On March 8, 2018, CI Brodzinski, CI Swint, and CI McClellan traveled to the offices of American Transit and Royal Adult Day Center to conduct an unannounced safety and compliance review.

23. Upon arrival, CI Brodzinski found that Royal Adult Day Center was dirty and had a foul odor.  

24. Mr. Nnanna was not at the offices of American Transit and Royal Adult Day Center when they arrived. Mr. Nnanna was contacted and arrived at the offices of American Transit and Royal Adult Day Center after a short time.

25. CI Brodzinski requested that Mr. Nnanna provide vehicle maintenance files and driver qualification files. Mr. Nnanna claimed the requested documents were at a different location.  Since Mr. Nnanna had none of the requested files in his office, he was offered the opportunity to bring the files to the offices of the Commission the following day, March 9, 2018. 

26. After the discussion with Mr. Nnanna about the files, all three Criminal Investigators conducted inspections of the vehicles. Three vehicles were found to be missing an annual stamp from the Commission.  All vehicles were found to have multiple violations of Commission rules and were found to be in a state of extreme disrepair. Exhibits 10, 11, and 12.
27. On March 9, 2018, Mr. Nnanna brought some records to the Commission offices but not the records requested by CI Brodzinski on March 8, 2018. At the end of the meeting, Mr. Nnanna purchased stamps for American Transit’s vehicles. 

28. Later on March 9, 2018, CI Brodzinski filled out CPAN No. 120997 after 
the meeting. The CPAN alleged one violation of Rule 6009(g) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6; one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.25(a); one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.25(b); one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.45; one alleged violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.51(a); and one alleged violation of Rule 6103(c)(II)(D). Exhibit 13.
29. On March 12, 2018, the CPAN was sent by certified mail to American Transit. 

30. On March 14, 2018, the CPAN was left with a person at American Transit.

31. On or about March 21, 2018, Mr. Nnanna came to the offices of the Commission with a copy of CPAN No. 120997 and demanded a hearing. 

32. On January 9, 2007, American Transit was issued CPAN No. 82098.  The CPAN alleged one violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(2) and two violations of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 395.8(a). Exhibit 16 p.1
33. On June 21, 2007, Staff and American Transit entered into a settlement and stipulation concerning CPAN No. 82098.  American Transit admitted liability to all of the alleged violations. Exhibit 16, p. 7.
34. On April 24, 2008, American Transit was issued CPAN No. 87287. The CPAN alleged one violation of Rule 6102, 49 CFR § 396.3(b)(3). Exhibit 17, p.1.
35. On May 6, 2008, American Transit paid the civil penalty. Exhibit 17, p.3.
36. On August 1, 2013, American Transit was issued CPAN No. 105862.  The CPAN alleged ten violations of § 40-1-202(1)(a), C.R.S. Exhibit 18, p.1.
37. On November 19, 2013, Staff and American Transit entered into a settlement and stipulation concerning CPAN No. 105862.  American Transit admitted liability to all of the alleged violations. Exhibit 18, p.6.
38. On December 14, 2014, a Safety and Compliance Review (SCR) was conducted by the Commission at American Transit. Numerous violations were found during the SCR. 

39. On February 23, 2018, American Transit was sent a letter from the Director of the Commission advising of a hearing due to American Transit’s failure to purchase vehicle stamps. Exhibit 20.  

40. American Transit was subject to a show cause hearing for failure to purchase stamps in 2009, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018. Hearing Exhibit 8, p. 6.
III.  ISSUES

41. Is the evidence sufficient to find that the Respondent, American Transport, violated the Commission rules contained in CPAN No. 120997?

42. Can the undersigned ALJ suspend the permit of Respondent, American Transit?

IV. APPLICABLE LAW 

43. As the proponent of a Commission order, Complainant has the burden of persuasion in this proceeding pursuant to 4 CCR 723-1-1500 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure.

44. Section 40-7-116, C.R.S., mandates a number of procedures for the imposition of civil penalties by the Commission.  After specifying that the listed officials are the ones authorized to issue civil penalty assessments for violations of law, § 116(1)(a) states that, “When a person is cited for the violation, the person operating the motor vehicle involved shall be given notice of the violation in the form of a civil penalty assessment notice.”  Section 116(b) further directs that the civil penalty assessment notice “shall be tendered by the enforcement official, either in person or by certified mail, or by personal service by a person authorized to serve process under rule 4(d) of the Colorado rules of civil procedure.” § 40-7-116, C.R.S.
45. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Administrative Procedure Act imposes the burden of proof in administrative adjudicatory proceedings upon "the proponent of an order."  § 24-4-105(7), C.R.S.  As provided in Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1500, “[t]he proponent of the order is that party commencing a proceeding.”  Here, Staff is the proponent since it commenced the proceeding through issuance of the CPAN.  Complainant bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.  See, § 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; 4 CCR 723-1-1500.  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its non-existence.  Swain v. Colorado Dept. of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507 (Colo. App. 1985).  While the quantum of evidence that constitutes a preponderance cannot be reduced to a simple formula, a party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole and however slightly, tips in favor of that party.

46. Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6009(g) provides the following:

A motor carrier shall not operate a motor vehicle unless it has affixed a valid vehicle stamp to the inside lower right-hand corner of the motor vehicle’s windshield. In the alternative, the vehicle stamp may be affixed to the right front side window of the motor vehicle so long as the stamp does not interfere with the driver’s use of the right-hand outside mirror.

47. Section 49 CFR § 391.25(a) provides the following:

Except as provided in subpart G of this part, each motor carrier shall, at least once every 12 months, make an inquiry to obtain the motor vehicle record of each driver it employs, covering at least the preceding 12 months, to the appropriate agency of every State in which the driver held a commercial motor vehicle operator's license or permit during the time period.
48. Section 49 CFR § 391.25(b) provides the following:

Except as provided in subpart G of this part, each motor carrier shall, at least once every 12 months, review the motor vehicle record of each driver it employs to determine whether that driver meets minimum requirements for safe driving or is disqualified to drive a commercial motor vehicle pursuant to § 391.15
49. Section 49 § 391.45 provides the following:

The following persons must be medically examined and certified in accordance with § 391.43 of this subpart as physically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle

(a)
Any person who has not been medically examined and certified as physically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle

50. Section 49 CFR § 391.51(a) provides the following:

Each motor carrier shall maintain a driver qualification file for each driver it employs. A driver's qualification file may be combined with his/her personnel file.

51. Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6103(c)(II)(D) provides the following:

A motor carrier that employs or retains the driver shall maintain and retain accurate and true time records, including all supporting documents verifying such time records, for a period of six months showing:

(i)
the time(s) the driver reports for duty each day;

(ii)
the time(s) the driver is released from duty each day;

(iii)
the total number of hours the driver is on duty each day; and 

(iv)
for a driver who is off duty for an entire day, an indication to that effect.
52. Proper service of the CPAN is vital.  “The mandatory requirements for valid service of process are fundamental because of the due process requirements of notice.”  Bush v. Winker, 892 P.2d 328, 332 (Colo. App. 1994) 
V. DISCUSSION 

53. Although it is unclear who signed for the CPAN when it was delivered, due to the fact that Mr. Nnanna requested a hearing, it is clear that service was proper. 

54. Mr. Nnanna has a history of failing to abide by the rules and regulations of the Commission as evidenced by his past history of CPANs.

55. In the instant case, the evidence is very straight forward. Carriers are required to have stamps for their vehicles, drivers need to be medically examined, and records need to be kept of driver histories and qualifications.  Mr. Nnanna provided none of these required items.

56. Even after making excuses at his place of business and given an additional day to provide the records, Mr. Nnanna failed to provide those documents the next day when he met with CI Brodzinski at the Commission offices.

57. What makes this especially troubling is the fact that Mr. Nnanna has been given repeated warnings and CPANs and still engages in this behavior.    

58. In addition, the passengers who place their trust in American Transit appear to be among the most vulnerable in the community. The state of affairs at American Transit is alarming. Every vehicle that was inspected by Commission investigators was in very poor condition, and unsuitable for the transportation of any passengers. 

59. It is noted that after the meeting held on March 9, 2018, Mr. Nnanna purchased stamps for American Transit’s vehicles.
60. Staff has met its burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence to show that the Respondent committed each violation alleged in the CPAN.
61. Having found violations of the cited regulations, it is necessary to determine 
the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for these violations.  The Commission is authorized to consider aggravating or mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations in order to fashion a penalty assessment that promotes the underlying purpose of such assessment. § 40-7-113, C.R.S.
62. Pursuant to Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-1-1302(b):

The Commission may impose a civil penalty …  will consider any evidence concerning some or all of the following factors:

(I)
the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II)
the degree of the respondent’s culpability;

(III)
the respondent’s history of prior offenses;

(IV)
the respondent’s ability to pay;

(V)
any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
the effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;

(VII)
the size of the respondent’s business; and

(VIII)
such other factors as equity and fairness may require. 

63. The Respondent failed to appear for the hearing. No mitigation was presented. Although the Respondent purchased stamps for its vehicles on March 9, 2018, that does not provide enough mitigation to reduce the amount assessed since this is the fifth year in a row American Transit has failed to purchase the stamps in a timely manner.  

64. The welfare of the public is at stake with the safety and compliance review and records checks. It is through these reviews that the Commission can ensure the proper level of safety for all those on the roads of Colorado. These are important regulations and cannot be ignored or deemed unimportant. 

65. The Respondent has refused to abide by the rules, regulations, and statutes promulgated by the Commission.
66. It is also noted that in the instant proceeding that the Respondent could have had additional violations assessed in the CPAN. 

67. Staff also requested an immediate suspension of American Transit’s permit. Staff stated that the undersigned ALJ has the power to suspend the permit under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) but did not specify where under the APA this power exists.

68. The undersigned ALJ has reviewed the APA and assumes that Staff believes the power to suspend the permit of American Transit would fall under § 24-4-104, C.R.S.  The parts of this statute that allow for a suspension of the permit are not applicable in the instant case.    

69. Under subsection (4)(a) of § 24-4-104, C.R.S.: 
Where the agency has objective and reasonable grounds to believe and finds, upon a full investigation, that the licensee has been guilty of deliberate and willful violation or that the public health, safety, or welfare imperatively requires emergency action and incorporates the findings in its order, it may summarily suspend the license pending proceedings for suspension or revocation which shall be promptly instituted and determined. 
This ability to suspend the permit appears to be an emergency action which would be taken by a CI.  If that action is taken, then a hearing must be held. That is not the situation in the above captioned case, the hearing has already taken place and the action to suspend would not be an emergency action taken after a full investigation. 

70. Under subsection (3)(a) of § 24-4-104, C.R.S., no suspension can be lawful unless “the agency has given the licensee notice in writing of objective facts or conduct established upon a full investigation that may warrant such action.”  

71. The CPAN served on American Transit contains the following warning:

Be Advised: The Commission Staff may propose at the hearing that if a penalty is assessed and not paid as directed that your permit be immediately revoked and all the principals be disqualified from obtaining another permit for up to five years, depending upon the type of permit.

CPAN at p. 2.

72. The notice of the potential of revocation for failure to pay any penalty assessed, does not give notice of the potential of a suspension at the end of the hearing. “The fundamental requisites of due process are notice and the opportunity to be heard.” Hendricks v. Indus. Claim Appeal Office, 809 P.2d 1076, 1077 (Colo. App. 1990). To suspend the permit without proper notice, and with notice that states that action against the permit would be taken only if a penalty assessment is not paid, would be a due process violation. 

73. The undersigned ALJ shall construe the request to suspend American Transit’s permit as a request to revoke the permit if any assessed penalty is not paid within the specified timeframe.

VI. CONCLUSION

74. For the foregoing reasons, the ALJ concludes that Respondent committed the violations as listed on CPAN No. 120997 on February 28, 2018 and that the assessment of the $2,625.00 civil penalty, plus $393.75 surcharge is warranted.

75. While the severity of the violations may warrant a suspension of the permit, the APA does not provide the ability to suspend in the instant case
VII. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:  
As alleged in Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 120997, Respondent, American Transit Express LLC, violated  Rule 6009(g) of the Rules Regulating 

1. Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-6;), Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 391.25(a); Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.25(b); Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.45; Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 CFR § 391.51(a); and Rule 6103(c)(II)(D).

2. Respondent is ordered to pay to the Commission within 30 days of the date that this Recommended Decision becomes the decision of the Commission, the sum of $3,018.75.  This amount represents the total of the civil penalty assessed for the violations found in Ordering Paragraph No. 1 plus the mandatory surcharge imposed by § 24-34-108, C.R.S.

3. If the Respondent fails to pay the civil penalty assessed within the time prescribed for payment, Commission Permit No. B-9893 shall be revoked from the Respondent. In addition,  Respondent, any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, director, and any other entity owned or operated by any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director, shall be disqualified from applying for a permit for a period of 36 months following the due date of the civil penalty assessed in this proceeding.

4.
This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

76. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

 

a)
If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  

a) If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  

77. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


ROBERT I. GARVEY
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge




� Mr. Nnanna’s name is also spelled Nnannah in some documents. Hearing Transcript p. 36, l. 14-23 


� The vehicles had a sign identifying them as being American Transit.


� A level 2 inspection is a cursory mechanical inspection of the vehicle and a driver’s license and medical certificate. Hearing Transcript p. 10, l. 3-4. 


�Among the violations were for failure to have medical certification for drivers and failure to have documentation of periodic vehicle inspections. 


� Section 40-10.1-304, C.R.S., allows for a disqualification for only 36 months.
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